#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national association,

Appellant,

v.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 71822

Electronically Filed Apr 20 2017 08:47 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable JIM CROCKETT, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-692202-C

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Joel E. Tasca, Nevada Bar No. 14124
Matthew D. Lamb, Nevada Bar No. 12991
Holly Ann Priest, Nevada Bar No. 13226
BALLARD SPAHR LLP
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1750
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106
(702) 471-7000

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Page(s)
CASES
1597 Ashfield Valley Trust v. Fannie Mae, No. 2:14-cv-02123-JCM, 2015 WL 4581220 (D. Nev. July 28, 2015)11
<u>A&amp;I LLC Series 3 v. Lowry,</u> No. A-13-691529-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. May 31, 2016)
<u>Adams v. Joseph F. Sanson Inv. Co.,</u> 376 F. Supp. 61 (D. Nev. 1974)
Alessi & Koenig, LLC v. Dolan, No. 2:15-cv-00805-JCM-CWH, 2017 WL 773872 (D. Nev. Feb. 27, 2017)
Alliance Prop. Mgmt. & Dev., Inc. v. Andrews Ave. Equities, Inc., 133 A.D.2d 30 (N.Y. App. Div. 1987)
<u>Apao v. Bank of N.Y.,</u> 324 F.3d 1091 (9th Cir. 2003)41
<u>Armstrong v. Csurilla,</u> 112 N.M. 579 (1991)
<u>Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Care Ctr., Inc.,</u> 135 S. Ct. 1378 (2015)
BAC Home Loans Serv., LP v. Texas Realty Holdings, LLC, 901 F. Supp. 2d 884 (S.D. Tex. 2012)
Bank of N.Y. Mellon v. Star Golden Enters. Series 6, No. 68345, 2017 Nev. LEXIS 10 (Jan. 25, 2017)
Bayview Loan Servicing v. Alessi & Koenig, 962 F. Supp. 2d 1222 (D. Nev. 2013)
Beal Bank, SSB v. Nassau Cty., 973 F. Supp. 130 (E.D.N.Y. 1997)

Berezovsky v. Moniz,
No. 2:15-cv-01186-GMN-GWF, 2015 WL 8780198 (D. Nev. Dec. 15,
2015)11
Berrum v. Otto,
127 Nev. 372 (2011)60
Beverly v. Weaver-Farley,
No. 3:13-cv-00348-LRH-VPC, 2013 WL 5592332 (D. Nev. Oct. 9, 2013)26
Bourne Valley Court Tr. v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA, 832 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 2016)passim
632 1 .3 <b>u</b> 1134 (9th Cir. 2010)passiiii
Breithaupt v. USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.,
110 Nev. 31 (1994)
Brentwood Acad. v. Tenn. Secondary Sch. Ath. Ass'n,
531 U.S. 288 (2001)
Cambridge Capital Corp. v. Halcon Enterps., Inc.,
842 F. Supp. 499 (S.D. Fla. 1993)
<u>Charest v. Fannie Mae,</u> 9 F. Supp. 3d 11418
Cirino v. Bank of Am., N.A.,
No. CV 13-8829, 2014 WL 9894432 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 1, 2014)
CitiMortgage, Inc. v. Country Gardens Owners' Ass'n,
No. 2:13-CV-2039-GMN, 2013 WL 6409951 (D. Nev. Dec. 5, 2013)23
City of Spokane v. Fannie Mae,
775 F.3d 1113 (9th Cir. 2014)10
Clark County v. S. Nev. Health Dist.,
128 Nev. 651 (2012)
<u>Collins v. Viceroy Hotel Corp.,</u> 338 F. Supp. 390 (N.D. Ill. 1972)42
330 1 . Supp. 330 (1 <b>ν.</b> D. III. 1 <i>312)</i> 42
Cty. of Sonoma v. FHFA,
710 F.3d 987 (9th Cir. 2013)10

<u>Culberston v. Leland,</u> 528 F.2d 426 (9th Cir. 1975)
CWCapital Asset Mgmt., LLC v. Chicago Props., 610 F.3d 497 (7th Cir. 2010)
<u>Diakonos Holdings, LLC v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.,</u> No. 2:12-cv-00949-KJD-RJJ, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18718 (D. Nev. Feb. 11, 2013)
Ditech Financial, LLC v. Kal-Mor-USA, LLC, No. 68389 (Nev. Dec. 22, 2016)
Edelstein v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon, 128 Nev. 505 (2012)
Elmer v. Freddie Mac, No. 2:14-cv-01999-GMN-NJK, 2015 WL 4393051 (D. Nev. July 14, 2015)
Evans v. Newton, 382 U.S. 296 (1966)
FHFA v. Nevada New Builds, LLC, No. 2:16-cv-1188-GMN-CWH, 2017 WL 888480 (D. Nev. Mar. 6, 2017)11
FHFA v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, No. 2:15-cv-1338-GMN-CWH, 2016 WL 2350121 (D. Nev. May 2, 2016)
<u>Fontenot v. Upjohn Co.,</u> 780 F.2d 1190 (5th Cir. 1986)
Fort Apache Homes, Inc. vs. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., No. A-13-691166-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. Feb. 5, 2016)
Freedom Mortgage Corp. v. Trovare Homeowners Ass'n, No. 2:11-cv-01403-MMD-GWF, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 106442 (D. Nev. July 29, 2013)
<u>G &amp; P Inv. Enters., LLC v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,</u> No. 2:15-cv-0907-JCM-NJK, 2016 WL 4370055 (D. Nev. Aug. 4, 2016)11

<u>Gavirati v. Washington Mutual Bank, FA,</u> No. A-13-690263-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. Sept. 1, 2016)12
GMAC Mortg., LLC v. McKeever, 651 F. App'x 332 (6th Cir. 2016)
Golden v. Tomiyasu, 79 Nev. 503 (1963)passin
<u>Greer v. O'Dell,</u> 305 F.3d 1297 (11th Cir. 2002)
Grimsley v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Atoka Cty., Okla., 9 F. App'x 970 (10th Cir. 2001)
<u>Hall v. Garson,</u> 430 F.2d 430 (5th Cir. 1970)
Honeybadgers Holdings LLC v. Karimi, No. A-15-718824-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. Mar. 22, 2017)
Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Ass'n v. Ikon Holdings, LLC, 373 P.3d 66 (Nev. 2016)
<u>Houston v. Bank of Am.,</u> 119 Nev. 485 (2003)
<u>In re Carssow-Franklin,</u> No. 15-CV-1701 (KMK), 2016 WL 5660325 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2016)22
<u>In re Merritt,</u> 555 B.R. 471 (E.D. Pa. 2016)
<u>In re Montierth,</u> 354 P.3d 648 (Nev. 2015)
Int'l Game Tech., Inc. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 132 (2006)
<u>Island Fin., Inc. v. Ballman,</u> 92 Md. App. 125 (1992)

<u>Jackson v. Metro. Edison Co.,</u> 419 U.S. 345 (1974)
Johnson v. Riverside Hotel, Inc., 399 F. Supp. 1138 (S.D. Fla. 1975)
<u>JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. Las Vegas Dev't Grp., LLC,</u> No. 2:15-cv-1701-JCM-VCF, 2017 WL 937722 (D. Nev. Mar. 9, 2017)11
<u>Kal-Mor-USA, LLC v. Bank of America, N.A.,</u> No. 2:13-cv-0680-LDG-VCF, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98375 (D. Nev. July 8, 2013)
<u>Kiah v. Aurora Loan Serv., LLC,</u> No. 10-46161-FDS, 2011 WL 841282 (D. Mass. Mar. 4, 2011)23
<u>Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank,</u> 176 Wash. 2d 771 (2013)42
<u>Klim v. Jones,</u> 315 F. Supp. 109 (N.D. Cal. 1970)
Koronik v. Nationstar Mortg. LLC, No. 2:13-CV-2060-GMN-GWF, 2016 WL 7493961 (D. Nev. Dec. 30, 2016)
<u>Krohn v. Sweetheart Props, LTD (In re Krohn),</u> 203 Ariz. 205 (2002)
<u>LN Mgmt. LLC v. Pfeiffer,</u> No. 2:13-cv-1934-JCM-PAL, 2017 WL 955184 (D. Nev. Mar. 9, 2017)11
<u>Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., Inc.,</u> 457 U.S. 922 (1982)
Marsh v. Alabama, 326 U.S. 501 (1946)
Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791 (1983)
Minor Girl v. Clark Cnty. Juvenile Court Servs., 87 Nev. 544 (1971)

Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950)50
<u>Munoz v. Branch Banking &amp; Trust Co.,</u> 348 P.3d 689 (Nev. 2015)14, 15
Mutual Pharmaceutical Co. v. Bartlett, 133 S. Ct. 2466 (2013)
My Glob. Vill., LLC v. Fannie Mae, No. 2:15-cv-00211-RCJ-NJK, 2015 WL 4523501 (D. Nev. July 27, 2015)
Nat'l Collegiate Ath. Ass'n v. Tarkanian, 488 U.S. 179 (1988)
Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Messina, No. 68603, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1007 (Dec. 2, 2016)36
Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Premier One Holdings, Inc., No. 67722, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 327 (Mar. 18, 2016)36
Nev. Ass'n Servs. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 338 P.3d 1250 (Nev. 2014)
Nevada New Builds, LLC v. Nationstar Mortg. LLC, No. A-14-704924-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. Sept. 27, 2016)
Nevada Sand Castles, LLC v. Green Tree Servicing LLC, No. 2:15-cv-0588-GMN-VCF, 2017 WL 701361 (D. Nev. Feb. 22, 2017)11
Nguyen v. Calhoun, 105 Cal. App. 4th 428 (2003)39
NV West Servicing LLC v. Bank of America, N.A., No. A-14-705996-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. Jan. 25, 2016)
Oller v. Sonoma Cty. Land Title Co., 137 Cal. App. 2d 633 (1955)33, 34
Opportunity Homes, LLC v. Freddie Mac, 169 F. Supp. 3d 1073 (D. Nev. 2016)

Paramount Ins. v. Rayson & Smitley, 86 Nev. 644 (1970)	58
Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis., Inc. v. Williams, 128 Nev. 324 (2012)	9
<u>Premier One Holdings, Inc. v. Fannie Mae,</u> No. 2:14-cv-02128-GMN-NJK, 2015 WL 4276169 (D. Nev. July 14, 2015)	11
Pub. Emples. Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, 124 Nev. 138 (2008)	55, 56
Pub. Utilities Comm'n v. Pollak, 343 U.S. 451 (1952)	48
Quinta Hills LLC, vs. BAC Home Loans Serv'g LP, No. A-13-693427-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. Jan. 6, 2016)	11
Randall v. Cnty. of Lyon, 20 Nev. 35 (1887)	60
RLP-Buckwood Court, LLC, v. GMAC Mortg., LLC, No. A-13-686438-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. May 24, 2016)	12
<u>Saticoy Bay, LLC Series 1702 Empire Mine v. Fannie Mae,</u> No. 2:14-CV-01975-KJD-NJK, 2015 WL 5709484 (D. Nev. Sep. 29, 2015)	11, 22
Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 388 P.3d 226 (Nev. 2017)	25
Saticoy Bay LLC, Series 2714 Snapdragon v. Flagstar Bank, FSB, No. 2:13-CV-1589-JCM-VCF, 2016 WL 1064463 (D. Nev. Mar. 17, 2016)	11
Saticoy Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., 388 P.3d 970 (Nev. 2017)	0, 41, 45
Saticoy Bay LLC Series 9641 Christine View vs. Fannie Mae, No. A-13-690924-C (Nev. Dist. Ct. Dec. 8, 2015)	11

<u>Saticoy Bay LLC v. SRMOF II 2012-1 Trust,</u> No. 2:13-CV-1199, 2015 WL 1990076 (D. Nev. Apr. 30, 2015)15
Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Umatilla Cnty., 77 Or. App. 283 (1986)
<u>Sec. Sav. &amp; Loan Ass'n v. Fenton,</u> 167 Ariz. 268 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1990)
Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, No. 68009, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 812 (Sep. 30, 2016)37
SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014) passim
SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, No. A-13-680704 (Nev. Dist. Ct. Nov. 17, 2016)
<u>Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp. Inc.,</u> 366 P.3d 1105 (Nev. 2016)passim
<u>Shelley v. Kraemer,</u> 334 U.S. 1 (1948)
<u>Skylights v. Byron,</u> 112 F. Supp. 3d 1145 (D. Nev. 2015)
Small Engine Shop, Inc. v. Cascio, 878 F.2d 883 (5th Cir. 1989)
<u>Sprint Comm'ns Co., L.P. v. APCC Servs., Inc.,</u> 554 U.S. 269 (2008)
State Tax Comm'n ex rel. Nev. Dep't of Taxation v. Am. Home Shield of Nev., Inc.,
127 Nev. 382 (2011)
TFG-Illinois, L.P. v. United Maint. Co., Inc., 829 F. Supp. 2d 1097 (D. Utah 2011)22
<u>Thunder Props., Inc. v. Wood,</u> No. 3:14-cv-00068, 2015 WL 1926768 (D. Nev. Apr. 28, 2015)15

Tulsa Prof'l Collection Services, Inc. v. Pope, 485 U.S. 478 (1988)
<u>Twp. of Jefferson v. Block 447A, Lot 10,</u> 228 N.J. Super. 1 (App. Div. 1988)51
<u>United Okla. Bank v. Moss</u> , 1990 OK 50 (1990)32
<u>US Bank, N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC,</u> 124 F. Supp. 3d 1063 (D. Nev. 2015)
<u>Vita Bella Homeowners Ass'n v. Fannie Mae,</u> No. 2:15-cv-0515-JCM-VCF (D. Nev. Mar. 9, 2017)11
Weeping Hollow Avenue Trust v. Spencer, No. 2:13-cv-00544-JCM-VCF, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 74065 (D. Nev. May 24, 2013)
<u>Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC,</u> No. 67489, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 331 (Mar. 18, 2016)37
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Sky Vista Homeowners Ass'n, No. 3:15-cv-00390-RCJ-VPC, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 56928 (D. Nev. Apr. 13, 2017)
<u>Williston Inv. Grp., LLC v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA,</u> No. 2:14-cv-02038-GMN-PAL, 2015 WL 4276144 (D. Nev. July 14, 2015)
Wood v. Germann, 331 P.3d 859 (Nev. 2014)
<u>Wylie v. Patton,</u> 111 Idaho 61 (Ct. App. 1986)51
STATUTES
12 U.S.C. § 4617passim
A.B. 612, 67th Leg., 1993 Nev. Stat. 57356
NRS 107 090 passim

NRS 108.51043,	44
NRS 116.2101	47
NRS 116.3102	48
NRS 116.3115	24
NRS 116.3116pass	im
NRS 116.31162	52
NRS 116.31163pass	im
NRS 116.311635	56
NRS 116.31168pass	im
S.B. 306, 78th Leg., 2015 Nev. Stat. 266	56
U.S. Const. Art. VI Cl. 2	14
OTHER AUTHORITIES	
4 <u>Powell on Real Property</u> § 37.42[6] (2017)	33
Barbara C. McCabe, <u>Homeowners Associations as Private Governments:</u> What We Know, What We Don't Know, and Why It Matters	48
Barbara C. McCabe & Jill Tao, <u>Private Governments and Private Services:</u> <u>Homeowners Associations in the City and Behind the Gate</u>	48
Brentt Tyler, <u>Las Vegas Investors Buy HOA Liens and then Rent Out</u> <u>Homes</u> , Community Ass'n Network (Apr. 23, 2013)	28
FHFA's Statement on Servicer Reliance on the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008	.20
Hearing on S.B. 306 before the Assemb. Comm. on Jud., 2015 Leg., 78th Sess., at 42 (Nev. 2015)	57
Hearing on S.B. 306 before the S. Comm. on Jud., 2015 Leg., 78th Sess., at 6 (Nev. 2015)	.57

Hubble Smith, Shrewd Investors Snap Up HOA Liens, Rent Out Houses,
L.V. RevJ. (Mar. 18, 2013)27
In De Consequent and in of Federal Heave I and Market and Consequent
In Re Conservatorship of: Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation,
Notice Regarding Determination and Appointment of Conservator (Sep.
18, 2008)
Minutes of Hearing on A.B. 221 before the Assembly Committee on
Judiciary, 1991 Leg., 66th Sess., 34 (Nev. 1991)
Minutes of Hearing on A.B. 612 before the Assembly Committee on
Judiciary, 1993 Leg., 67th Sess., 51 (Nev. 1993)49
Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgagespassim
Uniform Law Commission, Common Interest Ownership Act Summary47

# **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal from a final judgment under NRAP 3A(b)(1). Chase's operative complaint includes claims for Declaratory Relief, Quiet Title, and Unjust Enrichment against defendant SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC ("SFR"). Appellant's Appendix Volume 1 ("1AA") 049-051. SFR filed an answer, counterclaim, and cross-claim with claims against Chase and Kyleen T. Bell for Declaratory Relief/Quiet Title and Preliminary and Permanent Injunction. 1AA 011-021. SFR stipulated to dismiss its claims against Ms. Bell. The district court later entered summary judgment for SFR on the claims between SFR and Chase. 3AA 351-360. Notice of entry of the summary judgment was served on October 26, 2016. 3AA 361-372. Chase filed a timely notice of appeal on November 22, 2016. 3AA 373-375.

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because it raises questions of first impression involving the United States Constitution, the Nevada Constitution, and the common law. <u>See NRAP 17(a)(13)</u>. It also raises questions of statewide public importance. <u>See NRAP 17(a)(14)</u>.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. Did the district court err by holding, at the summary judgment stage, that the HOA foreclosure sale extinguished the deed of trust owned by the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") and serviced by Chase?
  - a. May Chase assert 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) (the "Federal Foreclosure Bar") as the rule of decision governing claims of quiet title on the property securing Fannie Mae's mortgage loan?
  - b. Did borrower Kyleen Bell's payments to the HOA satisfy the portion of the HOA's lien, if any, that was entitled to a superpriority over the deed of trust?
  - c. Does the holding of <u>SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S.</u>

    <u>Bank, N.A.</u>, 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014), apply retroactively to foreclosure sales conducted before September 18, 2014?
  - d. Is there a genuine issue of fact as to the validity of the sale under Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp. Inc., 366 P.3d 1105 (Nev. 2016)?
  - e. Do the provisions of NRS Chapter 116 governing notice to purported junior lienholders satisfy the requirements of due process?

2.	Alternatively, did the district court err by entering summary judgment for
	SFR on Chase's alternative claim for unjust enrichment?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a quiet title action arising from a foreclosure sale under NRS Chapter 116. In 2002, Kyleen Bell obtained a \$68,000 mortgage loan from Republic Mortgage LLC ("Republic"). The loan was secured by a deed of trust encumbering property at 2824 Begonia Court, Henderson, Nevada 89074. The original beneficiary under the deed of trust was Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., solely as nominee for Republic and its successors and assigns ("MERS"). The Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") purchased the loan in 2003 and continues to own it today. In 2008, Fannie Mae was placed under the conservatorship of the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA") pursuant to the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008. In 2012, MERS assigned the Deed of Trust to Chase, which was servicing the loan on behalf of Fannie Mae. Chase continues servicing the loan today.

In 2011, Eastbridge Gardens Condominiums (the "HOA") recorded notice of a delinquent assessment lien against the property. Ms. Bell then made a total of \$1,838.12 in payments against the delinquent assessments. The HOA ultimately foreclosed under its lien in 2013. SFR purportedly bought the property with a bid of \$10,100; only one other person submitted a bid. At no time did FHFA consent to Fannie Mae's interest being extinguished or foreclosed. At the time of the sale, the property's fair market value was \$70,000 and the HOA's governing declaration

stated that the enforcement of the HOA's lien would not affect a first security interest.

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