Case No. 71822

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK N.A.,

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jun 22 2017 09:10 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable JIM CROCKETT, District Judge District Court Case No. District Court Case No. A-13-692202-C

Respondent's Answering Brief

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10593 E-mail: jackie@kgelegal.com DIANA CLINE EBRON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10580 E-mail: diana@kgelegal.com

KIM GILBERT EBRON 7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89139 Telephone: (702) 485-3300 Facsimile: (702) 485-3301

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The property⁵² in the case herein was subject to an NRS 116.3116 foreclosure. This foreclosure was properly noticed and conducted, and resulted in the extinguishment of the Bank's FDOT. As such, the District Court, in reviewing all the circumstances and evidence, properly granted SFR's Motion for Summary Judgment quieting title to SFR.

The District Court properly rejected the Bank's Supremacy Clause argument because that constitutional provision does not authorize private litigants to displace state law. Thus, the Bank lacks standing to assert the alleged rights, if any, of a federal agency, namely, Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA"). That is because Congress gave that right exclusively to the FHFA. Neither the Bank nor the amicus brief filed by FHFA provided any statutory support to overcome the express provisions of HERA.⁵³

The Bank and not the Borrower was the only party who could pay only the superpriority portion of the lien to save the Bank's FDOT. Accordingly, the Bank's argument, even though factually erroneous, that the superpriority portion of the lien was satisfied before the sale, fails as a matter of law.

⁵² The property is located at 2824 Begonia Court, Henderson, NV 89074; Parcel No. 177-12-410-074.

⁵³ Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 ("HERA").

The Bank failed to prove any fraud, unfairness, or oppression that accounted for and brought about the allegedly low purchase price of which it complains. *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n., Inc., v. New York Comm. Bancorp, Inc.,* 132 Nev. ____, ___, 366 P.3d 1105, 1115 (2016)(*citing Long v. Towne,* 98 Nev. 11, 13, 639 P.2d 528, 530 (1982) and *Golden v. Tomiyasu,* 79 Nev. 503, 514, 387 P.2d 989, 995 (1963)). Additionally, should this Court weigh equities under *Shadow Wood,* this Court has given strong favor to BFPs in quiet title matters, so strong that such a finding trumps any equitable relief being sought by a complaining party. *Shadow Wood,* 366 P.3d at 1115. Even where an alleged tender is involved, where the complaining party fails to avail itself of earlier remedies and allows a BFP to purchase the property equity should not interfere. *Id.* at 1116.

The Bank's argument that *SFR* should not be applied retroactively is misplaced because, generally, such retroactivity analyses are not applicable to civil cases. Furthermore, Nevada law supports the conclusion that *SFR*—which did not create but rather interpreted existing law—can and should be applied retroactively. *Nevada Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in & for Cty. of Clark*, 132 Nev. ___, 383 P.3d 246 (2016).

The Bank's due process arguments similarly fail under Nevada law. The Bank seems to forget that this court determined that NRS 116 does not implicate due process in *Saticoy Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home*

Mortgage, a Division of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 133 Nev. ____, 388 P.3d 970, 975 (2017). Further, all seven of the Nevada Supreme Court Justices found that an association's foreclosure of its super-priority lien pursuant to NRS 116 extinguishes an FDOT. *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.,* 130 Nev. ____, 334 P.3d 419 (2014) (majority opinion and Gibbons, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). Moreover, all seven of the Nevada Supreme Court Justices found that NRS 116 provides a mandate for associations to mail notices to the first security holders pursuant to NRS 116.31168(1), which incorporates the whole of NRS 107.090. *Id.* at 410, 422. As such the Bank's due process argument fails.

The Bank brings to this Court no evidence raising a question of material fact, no new arguments, no reason to overturn the legal and fair association foreclosure sale, and certainly no reason to cloud SFR's title to the Property. As such the Court should Affirm.

///

///

///

ARGUMENT

I. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED</u> <u>THAT THE BANK LACKS STANDING TO INVOKE</u> <u>THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OR HERA.</u>

The District Court properly determined that whether FNMA had any interest in the Property on the date of the Association foreclosure was immaterial⁵⁴ because the Bank lacks standing to assert either the Supremacy Clause or 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3). 3AA_370, ¶O. Nothing in the law allows the Bank to ascend to rights given only to FHFA, not even some purported contract with FNMA.

A. <u>The Bank Cannot Use the Supremacy Clause or HERA</u>

The Bank contends that it has standing to invoke the Supremacy clause to enforce what it misleadingly labeled as the "Federal Foreclosure Bar" under 12 U.S.C. 4617(j)(3). However, the Bank is not the FHFA and, therefore, cannot invoke protection under 12 U.S.C. 4617(j)(3).

1. <u>Armstrong does not displace Congress's right to determine who may</u> <u>enforce federal laws</u>

The United States Supreme Court determined that private litigants cannot use the Supremacy Clause to displace state law. *Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Care*

⁵⁴ The District Court made no findings as to whether FNMA had an interest. 3AA_370, ¶ O. However, FNMA had no recorded interest in the Property at any time prior to the sale. *See* 1RA_0060-78; 1RA_0038-39; 1RA_0083-85.

Ctr., Inc., 575 U.S. ____, 135 S.Ct. 1378, 1383-85 (2015). Only Congress, through a law's text, determines who can invoke a federal statute. *Id.* at 1383-84.

The *Armstrong* Court stated that the Supremacy Clause is not a "source of any federal rights" and that it is "silent regarding who may enforce federal laws in court, and in what circumstances they may do so." <u>Id.</u> at 1383. The Bank relies primarily on cases pre-dating *Armstrong*. *See* AOB p. 15 *citing Beal Bank, SSB v. Nassau Cty.,* 973 F. Supp. 130, 133 (E.D.N.Y. 1997); citing also *Cambridge Capital Corp. v. Halcon Enterprises, Inc.,* 842 F. Supp. 499, 499 (S.D. Fla. 1993); citing also *Grimsley v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Atoka Cty., Okla.,* 9 F. App'x 970, 971 (10th Cir. 2001).

What the Bank forgets is that "Article I vests Congress with broad discretion over the manner of implementing its enumerated powers, giving it authority to 'make all Laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying [them] into Execution."" *Armstrong*, 135 S.Ct. at 1383 *citing* U.S. Const. Art. I, § 8. The *Armstrong* Court went on to say "[i]t is unlikely that the Constitution gave Congress such broad discretion with regard to the enactment of laws, while simultaneously limiting Congress's power over the manner of their implementation, making it impossible to leave the enforcement of federal law to federal actors." *Armstrong*, 135 S.Ct. at 1383-84. "If the Supremacy Clause includes a private right of action, *then the Constitution requires Congress to permit the enforcement of its laws by private*

actors, significantly curtailing its ability to guide the implementation of federal law. *Id..*, 135 S. Ct. at 1384 (emphasis added)." Thus, if possible at all, a private actor would need the express intent of Congress to enforce federal law as anything less would strip away the right from Congress to implement its own laws. *See Id.* "[T]he 'express provision of one method of enforcing a substantive rule suggests that Congress intended to preclude others." *Id.* at 1385 *citing Alexander v. Sandoval*, 532 U.S. 275, 290, 121 S.Ct. 1511, 149 L.Ed.2d 517 (2001).

As discussed below, Congress authorized only one party to invoke the statutory shield found in § 4617(j)(3): the FHFA. Therefore, according to the United States Supreme Court, this demonstrates Congress intended to preclude others—like the Bank—from attempting to invoke these protections.

2. <u>Congress vested authority to enforce § 4617(j)(3) solely in FHFA, and</u> then only when acting as conservator.

The Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 ("HERA") demonstrates that Congress exclusively authorized only the FHFA, solely in its capacity as conservator, to enforce HERA and to protect Fannie's alleged "assets." Specifically, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D)(ii) provides that, "the Agency may, as conservator, take such action as may be appropriate to carry on the business of the regulated entity and preserve and conserve the assets and property of the regulated entity [Fannie]" 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D)(ii)(emphasis added). Notably absent in this statute is any ability for the Bank to exercise the authority provided to the conservator under 4617(b)(2)(D)(ii). In fact, FHFA's alleged succession means that *FHFA* has supposedly stepped into Fannie's shoes; it does not mean that the *Bank* has stepped into Fannie's shoes who has also then stepped into FHFA's shoes, somehow allowing the Bank, twice removed, to use § 4617(j)(3). *United States ex. rel Adams v. Aurora Loan Services, Inc.*, 813 F.3d 1259, 1261 (9th Cir. 2016). The Bank is but a private litigant and not entitled to enforce §4617(j)(3). Therefore, the Bank improperly relies on authority it has not been granted but has actually exclusively been granted only to FHFA by Congress.

FHFA's own regulations reinforce this authorization by stressing FHFA has "the **exclusive authority** to investigate and prosecute claims of any type **on behalf of [Fannie]**, or to **delegate to management of [Fannie] the authority** to investigate and prosecute claims." 12 C.F.R. § 1237.3(a)(7) (emphasis added). Nothing allows FHFA to delegate its exclusive authority to the Bank or any servicer. Here, the Bank is neither Fannie nor the FHFA, which has "exclusive authority to prosecute claims" for Fannie. This acknowledgment by the statute proves that Congress gave this authority to the FHFA. If direct delegation of this authority was not necessary, than it begs the question to why 12 C.F.R §1237.3(a)(7) needed to be promulgated in the

first place. Furthermore, the Bank advanced no evidence that FHFA "ha[d] delegated to management of [Fannie]" FHFA's authority. ⁵⁵ *See* 3AA _358.

Lastly, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(1) states "provisions of this subsection [4617(j)] shall apply with respect to the Agency in any case in which the Agency is acting as a conservator or a receiver." 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(1) (emphasis added). This provision establishes 4617(j)'s applicability; its heading, after all, is "applicability." Specifically, 4617(j)(3)—a "provision[] of this subsection"—applies "in any case in which the Agency is acting as a conservator" This phrase's plain meaning categorically limits 4617(j)(3) "to the Agency." It also requires that—in order for 4617(j)(3) to apply in a given case—FHFA must be "in [that] case acting as a conservator." Id. If FHFA ("the Agency") is not "acting as a conservator" in a case, then 4617(i)(3) does not apply to that case. Here, the Agency or FHFA is not a party to the case. Hence, this is not a "case in which the Agency is acting as a conservator[,]" thereby rendering 4617(j)(3) inapplicable; the fundamental requirement in (4617(b)(2)(D)(ii) & (i)(1)), that the conservator must "act," to have the statutory scheme apply, has not been fulfilled.

⁵⁵ The Bank asks this Court to take Notice of Fannie Guides available for viewing at Fannie's web page. AOB p. 17 fn. 5. These webpages are not part of the record and thus should be disregarded by this Court. To the extent this Court entertains any argument based on these Guides, the arguments are unavailing, as set forth in Sec. C, *infra*.

Even FHFA recognized the limits of anyone other than itself to assert HERA defenses. FHFA previously told a federal court that it "must be permitted to intervene in this action to assert unique statutory defenses provided by federal law that cannot be asserted by any other party to the litigation." Motion of FHFA to Intervene and Memorandum of Points and Authorities at 2:4-6, *Executive Trustee Services, LLC*, No. 3:09-cv-306-RCJ-PAL (D. Nev. 2015). 4617(j)(3) is allegedly a "unique statutory defense[] provided by federal law that cannot be asserted by any other party" including Fannie Mae or the Bank. These statements by FHFA itself contravene the Bank's position that it has the authority to use §4617(j)(3) as a defense. In sum, *Armstrong* and Congress's intent prevent the Bank from being able to use the Supremacy Clause or HERA.

Even if the FHFA had delegated appropriate authority to Fannie's management, the Bank is not Fannie and cannot raise claims entitled to Fannie or the FHFA. While many jurisdictions allow a servicer to enforce matters of payment, default of a loan and bankruptcy of the borrower in situations where both the servicer and principle are private entities, *Armstrong* prevents private litigants from using the Supremacy Clause to displace state law. *Armstrong*, 135 S.Ct. 1383-85.

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